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ISSUES Presented

I. Whether the trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury that Mr. Gomola’s lawful defense of another could negate the “non-felonious unlawful act” element of involuntary manslaughter?
II. Whether the State’s improper closing argument warrants a new trial?  

Statement of the Case
On 2 December 2013, the Carteret County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Gomola on one count of involuntary manslaughter. (R p 9)
 Mr. Gomola was initially tried during the 1 June 2015 Criminal Session of Carteret County Superior Court, the Honorable Benjamin G. Alford presiding. (MT p 4) On 5 June 2015, Judge Alford found the jury deadlocked and declared a mistrial. (MT pp 612-14) 

Judge Alford presided over Mr. Gomola’s re-trial during the 22 February 2016 Criminal Session of Carteret County Superior Court. (T p 4) This time, the jury convicted Mr. Gomola as charged. (R p 90) Judge Alford then sentenced him to 16-29 months imprisonment and a $10,000 fine. (R pp 93-94) Mr. Gomola gave oral notice of appeal in open court. (R pp 95-96)
STATEMENT OF THE GROUNDS FOR APPELLATE REVIEW
Mr. Gomola appeals of right from the final judgment of the Carteret County Superior Court under  TA \l "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b) and 15A-1444(a)" \s "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b) and 15A-1444(a)" \c 2 N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b) and 15A-1444(a) TA \s "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b) and 15A-1444(a)" 

 TA \s "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b) and 15A-1444(a)"  TA \s "N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-27(b) and 15A-1444(a)" . 

Statement of the Facts
In July 2013, 23-year-old Steven Johnson and his family were vacationing in Morehead City. Mr. Johnson’s friend Anthony Harrington accompanied him on the trip. On 4 July 2013, Harrington and Mr. Johnson spent some of the day working on a boat and were seen drinking, yelling, and “making a ruckus” on the waterfront during the afternoon. (T pp 126-27, 135, 515-16) After joining Mr. Johnson’s family for dinner, the two men went out around 7 p.m. to Jack’s Waterfront Bar. (T pp 127-28) 

Around 8:30, Mr. Johnson’s parents joined the men at Jack’s to enjoy a fireworks display. Before leaving around 10:30, the Johnsons took their son’s car keys and credit card, closed his tab, and asked a bartender to stop serving him. In their view, Mr. Johnson, who had previously been convicted of a DWI, “didn’t need to be driving.” (T pp 128-30, 140-44, 312) Although his parents asked him to come home, Mr. Johnson refused because he ran into some girls from high school he had not seen in a while and wanted to stay. (T pp 130-32) 

At the same time, 23-year-old Stephen Gomola was at Jack’s with his friend Jimmy Johner.
 Mr. Gomola, who stands approximately 6 feet 5 inches and weighs over 300 pounds, was wearing a yellow shirt. The friends were hanging out and drinking on the outdoor deck at Jack’s. (T pp 273-74, 300, 619) The outdoor deck sat on top of the waterfront, roughly eight feet above the water. A four-foot-high railing with a two-foot-wide top ran along the edge of the deck. (T pp 159-60, 229; State’s Ex. 7)

Just before 11 p.m., Harrington, who was “very drunk,” threw a beer bottle into the water below the deck. (T pp 519-20, 544) Jimmy asked Harrington not to throw bottles into the water. Harrington approached Jimmy and initially extended his hand as if to apologize and offer a handshake. Harrington then threw up his hands and began to laugh. Jimmy’s former co-worker Patrick Lindauer told Harrington there was no need to be a “smart aleck.” Harrington then got “very aggressive,” took off his shirt, and began to beat his chest and flex his muscles “as if to get into a fist fight.” At the same time, Mr. Johnson, who was wearing an orange shirt, also approached Jimmy. Mr. Johnson was similarly “acting aggressive” and “cussing.” He told Jimmy that he had “messed up now,” got in his face, and goaded Jimmy to hit Harrington, saying “bitch ass, you ain’t going to hit him.” Jimmy called out to a friend to get a bouncer and Mr. Gomola said “whoa, whoa, just chill out.” At the time, Jimmy was holding a drink in each hand. (T pp 135, 469, 520-23, 544; State’s Ex. 55, page 11; State’s Ex. 56, Timestamp 3:33:20-:34:53)

Mr. Johnson then said “too late Mother F-er” and shoved Jimmy backwards. At that moment, Lindauer and Mr. Gomola, who were both standing within inches of Jimmy, went past Jimmy and moved toward Mr. Johnson and Harrington. A fight ensued. Others, including Mr. Gomola’s acquaintance Michael Hall, joined in the fray. (T pp 522-24) Roughly eight seconds after Mr. Johnson shoved Jimmy, Mr. Johnson went over the railing of the deck and hit the water below, possibly hitting his head on the lip of the deck on the way down. (T p 557; State’s Ex. 22 - Camera 1, Timestamp 22:57:09–:16) Although several people, including Jimmy, jumped in the water to try and save Mr. Johnson, he drowned. (T p 525)

Police later recovered Mr. Johnson’s body. (T pp 417-23) An autopsy revealed that he had a blood alcohol concentration of at least .30 at the time of his death. He sustained trauma to his face “consistent with” being struck by a fist or other object. Although the medical examiner was of the opinion that Mr. Johnson was unconscious when he hit the water, he could not be sure whether he was unconscious from blows sustained during the fight or from hitting his head on the deck after falling over the railing. (T pp 223-30) In addition, Mr. Johnson could not swim, at least according to Harrington. (T p 596) Mr. Johnson’s official cause of death was drowning while incapacitated from head trauma, with alcohol intoxication as a contributing factor. The medical examiner explained that a “contributing factor” was one associated with the cause of death without which there may not have been a death.  The medical examiner also testified that it was “possible that a sober man having received the trauma or blow to his face and fallen eight feet into the water would have been conscious enough to have gotten himself out of the water.” (T pp 229-31) 

Surveillance video
 obtained from Jack’s showed Jimmy moving backwards due to Mr. Johnson’s initial shove, and Lindauer and Mr. Gomola moving past Jimmy. However, due to the camera’s placement, the surveillance footage did not show the fight. However, bystanders are shown looking into the water when Mr. Johnson fell, roughly eight seconds after his initial shove of Jimmy. (State’s Ex. 22 - Camera 1, Timestamp 22:57:09–:16) The video also showed Jimmy and others’ attempts to save Mr. Johnson. (State’s Ex. 22 - Camera 1, Timestamp 22:57:16 et seq.)
 
A. Various Witness Accounts of the Incident  

Mr. Gomola was the only person charged in connection with the fight. (T p 101) Several eyewitnesses for both the State and defense testified to their recollection of the incident. Those accounts are summarized as follows. 

i. Brittany Spatz 

Spatz “knew of” Mr. Gomola but did not know his name. Mr. Gomola was a friendly acquaintance of Spatz’ fiancé Logan Steinhauer and his group of friends, including Michael Hall. (T pp 195-98, 212) Spatz gave the following statement to police following the incident: 
So I see the first fight with someone I did not recognize [Harrington] on top of Michael Hall. I guess the guy I did not know started by punching Michael in the back of the head. Logan Steinhauer runs over to get guy off of Michael Hall. The other fight is Stephen Gomola punching guy in the orange shirt [Mr. Johnson] until he fell over the side. Few guys jumped in to try to find him. I saw Stephen hit the guy five or six times. It was about eleven, 11:15 that it happened. As Stephen was hitting him, the other guy’s butt was hanging over the rail trying to hang on and not fall in.

(T p 203; State’s Ex. 23)
At trial, Spatz testified that she had since seen the video from Jack’s and that although she told police what she thought she saw, she was no longer confident in the accuracy of the statement. She testified that although Mr. Gomola was in the area, she could not say with 100% certainty that he hit anyone. (T pp 208-10) The State attempted to impeach Spatz with her statement and testimony from the first trial it suggested was inconsistent. Spatz responded that her testimony at the first trial had not changed and that she was not sure what happened. She testified that the same assistant district attorney had “yelled” at her during the first trial and that she felt intimidated to give [the DA] an answer about things I was not sure about.” The State asked whether Spatz had “a lot of pressure placed on [her] by people involved in this case.” She responded that she felt “pressure [not on] who to go towards, [the pressure has] just been with myself.” (T pp 210-13)
ii. Joey Rivenbark

Joey Rivenbark had known Mr. Gomola and Jimmy since grade school. He was at Jack’s along with some friends, including Matthew Salter. (T pp 260-62) Rivenbark testified that he saw Harrington throw a bottle into the water and heard Jimmy ask him why he did not just throw it away. At that point, Harrington took off his shirt and threw his hands up like he was ready to fight. Mr. Johnson also approached Jimmy. Rivenbark didn’t see Mr. Johnson shove anyone, but did see Mr. Gomola and “a couple other guys” go towards Mr. Johnson. Rivenbark saw Mr. Johnson up against the rail with Mr. Gomola facing him, but didn’t see Mr. Gomola touch Mr. Johnson. Rivenbark did not see Mr. Johnson go over the rail. In his statement to police, Rivenbark described Harrington and Mr. Johnson as the instigators of the fight. (T pp 259-66, 275-78)
iii. Renna Johnson
Renna Johnson was part of the group of girls Mr. Johnson knew from high school. She testified that she was sitting up on the railing of the deck when Harrington “started getting mouthy,” took off his shirt, and started beating his chest. According to her, “words were exchanged” and then Harrington “charged the guys.” According to her, “lots” of punches were thrown. She testified that Mr. Johnson was sitting on the railing, got up, turned, got punched, went limp, and went over the railing into the water. She stated that Mr. Johnson never fully got up off the railing and that she did not see him punch anyone. According to Renna, Mr. Gomola was the person who pushed Mr. Johnson into the water. (T pp 282-90) She gave a statement to police to this effect. (T p 289)
iv. Cathryn Medlin

Cathryn Medlin was another one of the “high school girls” and a good friend of Mr. Johnson. She testified that she was sitting next to Renna on the rail when Harrington ripped off his shirt. She looked to her left and saw Mr. Gomola hit Mr. Johnson. She then heard, but did not see, Mr. Johnson hit the water. Medlin did not recall Mr. Johnson getting off the railing but acknowledged “the whole thing happened very fast.” She gave a statement to police to this effect. (T pp 307-14)

v. Shelby Tibbs

Shelby Tibbs was a patron at Jack’s who was standing by the back bar at the time of the fight. She testified that she saw two guys rolling around on the floor and then saw Mr. Gomola “flip somebody over the railing.” Tibbs made a short statement to police to this effect. (T pp 297-306) 
vi. Kathryn Griggs

Kathryn Griggs was a patron sitting at the bar inside of Jack’s. From Griggs’ vantage point inside, she could see some of the outside deck through a window behind the bar. She testified that she saw a man in a yellow shirt punch another man in the face, chest, and stomach multiple times before grabbing him by his knees and throwing him over the railing into the water. She thought the man who flipped the other man over the railing was about 5 foot 8 inches tall and weighed about two hundred pounds. Griggs could be seen on surveillance footage from Jack’s pointing to the window and making punching and pushing gestures in talking to other patrons after the fight. This footage was shown to the jury. (T pp 337-44, 351) Griggs did not give a statement to police that night, but later called police from her then-home in Florida after reading media reports of the incident. Griggs gave a brief interview to police over Skype, which was also played for the jury.  (T pp 337-48)

Griggs admitted that she was encouraged to call the police by a close friend of hers. This friend’s boyfriend knew Mr. Johnson. Griggs’ friend told her that if the media accounts of Mr. Johnson “falling over” the railing did not match what Griggs saw then she needed to contact police. (T pp 355-57)
vii. Jimmy Johner
Jimmy testified the he had known Mr. Gomola for ten years. According to Jimmy, the incident started when he asked Harrington not to throw bottles into the water. Harrington got “very aggressive,” took off his shirt, and began to beat his chest “as if to get into a fist fight.” He testified that it seemed as though Harrington “meant business.” At the same time, Mr. Johnson also approached Jimmy. Mr. Johnson was similarly “acting aggressive” and “cussing,” telling Jimmy that he had “messed up now” and goading him to hit Harrington. (T pp 518-22) According to Jimmy, Mr. Johnson said “too late Mother F-er” and shoved him backwards. Jimmy testified that he “absolutely felt threatened” in the moment and was unable to defend himself from Mr. Johnson’s push because he had a drink in each hand. Immediately after the shove, Lindauer and Mr. Gomola went past him and a fight ensued. Several other people jumped in. (T pp 522-23, 544) 

Jimmy saw Mr. Johnson grab a hold of Mr. Gomola’s shirt and saw Mr. Johnson kick and punch Mr. Gomola. Jimmy saw Lindhauer punching Mr. Johnson right before he went over the rail, although he also saw Mr. Gomola up against Mr. Johnson near the rail. According to Jimmy, Mr. Johnson fell and “nobody put him in the water.” (T pp 523-25, 542, 558) Jimmy’s statement to police did not mention Lindauer hitting Mr. Johnson. Jimmy did not testify at the first trial because he was working on a boat in the Gulf of Mexico and was unable to get off. (T pp 532, 537)
viii. Michael Hall 

Michael Hall testified that as Mr. Johnson shoved Jimmy, he and others went towards Mr. Johnson and Harrington. Harrington began hitting Hall in the back of the head, and the two ended up on the ground. After a minute he was able to get up and saw several people in the water looking for Mr. Johnson. He jumped into his nearby boat, put on his lights, and lowered a ladder to assist the people looking for Mr. Johnson. Hall did not see how Mr. Johnson ended up in the water. (T pp 570-75)

ix. Matthew Salter

Matthew Salter worked for Hall. He was about 10-12 feet away when the fight started. Out of the corner of his eye he saw Mr. Johnson leaning over the rail backwards, possibly with his hands up. Salter yelled “catch him he’s about to fall.” He then saw Mr. Johnson flip over and heard his head hit the deck with a “thud” before hitting the water. Salter testified that “after a second or two it looked like he lost his balance and fell” and that he “never saw who hit anyone or anything.” (T pp 553-63)

x. Mr. Gomola’s Statements

Although Mr. Gomola did not testify, the State introduced statements he made to police over a five hour period of time during the early morning hours after the incident. Mr. Gomola provided a written statement which was read to the jury:
My friends and I were standing on the deck talking with ourselves when we see a bottle go flying through the air and into the water. My friend Jimmy politely asked the crowd (because we did not see who threw it) not to throw trash into the water. Some guy started cussing at us and said he could do whatever the f*** he wanted to and got in our faces. Another guy, with an orange shirt came up and shoved Jimmy and me, and I proceeded to shove back. A brawl ensued, and there was a lot of shoving and pushing. Someone shoved me from behind and started pushing me in the back and started punching me in the back of the head and I was pushed into the guy who eventually fell into the water. He was on the bench area getting punched by someone, I did not see who, and then he fell over into the water. I then watched several people jump in after him and then the cops showed up and my friend Jimmy and I were brought here to MCPD. 

(T pp 463-66; R pp 49-50)

Mr. Gomola made additional oral statements in which he explained that after Mr. Johnson pushed Jimmy, he “started trying to fight us.” During the incident someone was grabbing his shirt and punching him in the back of the head. He admitted that he punched Mr. Johnson once and was “pushing at him” but maintained that he “did not put him in the water.” Mr. Gomola said that someone else was hitting Mr. Johnson when he was up on the railing and that Mr. Gomola “remembered [Mr. Johnson] getting hit and he just [went] backwards into the water.” (State’s Ex. 56, Timestamp 3:37:10-40:30) He stated that “there was so much going on” and that “[t]his happened all . . . so fast, I swear.” (T pp 469-75) At one point during the interview, an officer noted that there were no bruises, cuts, or scrapes on Mr. Gomola’s hands or knuckles. (T p 423; State’s Ex. 56, Timestamp 3:37:10-:37) Mr. Gomola’s police interview, and an unofficial transcript of the interview, was published to the jury. (T p 483; State’s Ex. 55-56)

B. Additional Facts, Charge Conference, and Closing Argument
Three different witnesses described Mr. Gomola as a peaceful and honest person, and Jimmy did not recall ever seeing Mr. Gomola in any other physical altercation. (T pp 526, 608, 616) The owner of Jack’s testified that he went to high school with Mr. Gomola’s mother and that he always found Mr. Gomola to be a “good kid” who had always been “good to” him. At the time of the trial Mr. Gomola was still welcome at Jack’s and had apologized to the owner for the trouble. (T pp 526, 608-16) He was polite and cooperative in his interactions with police. (T p 423) 

During the charge conference, defense counsel asked the trial court to instruct on “defense of others” immediately after the pattern instruction on the “intentional non-felonious act” element of involuntary manslaughter. (T pp 630-32) The proposed instruction submitted by Mr. Gomola’s counsel contained portions of Criminal Pattern Jury Instruction 308.47
 and read in part as follows:  
[C]onduct is lawful if it occurs in the course of the lawful defense of a third person or himself (sic). If from the evidence you find that the circumstances would have created a reasonable belief in the mind of a person of ordinary firmness that the defendant’s conduct was necessary or apparently necessary to protect himself (sic) or a third person from an assault or offensive physical contact, and the circumstances did create such belief in the defendant’s mind at the time the defendant acted, defendant’s conduct would be justified by the defense of a third person. 
(R pp 70-71)
 
In response to counsel’s request, the State argued that the defense had not  “present[ed] evidence of [Mr. Gomola’s] reasonable belief of [an] eminent (sic) attack” and therefore did not meet its burden of production for an instruction on defense of others. The State further asserted that “[t]here’s no mention of it in any testimony, any statements or anything else. And again, if [defense counsel’s] going to say what Mr. Gomola believed without Mr. Gomola taking the stand and saying he believed it, that’s not proper, and if I tried to counter that then I’m commenting on his non-testifying.” (T pp 632-33) The trial court ultimately denied the requested instruction on the grounds that it had “not heard evidence that indicates . . . what the defendant’s reasonable belief was at the time of the incident. Therefore the Court will not give self-defense (sic).” Mr. Gomola renewed his request for a defense of others instruction and the trial court noted his objection for the record. (T pp 633, 635)
  

During its closing, the State made the following arguments. Where defense counsel lodged an objection, that fact is noted along with the trial court’s ruling.
· “It’s time to get real folks. It’s time to leave the fantasy world of Mr. Dawson and Mr. Gerrans [defense counsel] and get real.” Objection Sustained (T pp 661-62)
· The State talked about seeing a rodeo on TV and described the rodeo clown as having “pink hair, clown costume, waving his arms trying to distract the bull from getting at the rider.” It then opined that “what you’ve heard in [defense counsel’s closing was what] I call the rodeo clown defense” because “their whole defense basically is drunk-drunk-drunk-drunk-drunk-drunk-drunk.” Objection Overruled (T p 662)
· “And not only is it the credibility of the witnesses that you’re the judge of, folks, it’s the credibility of the attorneys presenting the case.” Objection Sustained (T p 664)
· “I contend that the case they presented to you as their defense is the absolutely best case they could, and I contend to you it was inadequate, redundant and pathetic.” Objection Overruled  (T pp 665-66)
· The State claimed Spatz wavered from her written statement and suggested she did so under pressure from the defense — “And I contend folks why she changed her testimony rests over here on this [the defense] side.” Objection Sustained, Jury Told to Disregard (T pp 668-70)
· Immediately after the above — “Again, once this case got going and once Mr. Gomola, this big guy over here that lives in Morehead City, got charged, and once the discovery got sent out and once she understood and realized oh, my God, oh, my goodness look what I’ve done. How damning is this to Stephen Gomola? Do you think she might maybe fear for her safety?” Objection Sustained  (T p 669)
· The State continued, “And now, when she understands how damning her statement is to his case —” Objection Overruled “She’s suddenly come in and backs up. Use your common sense and figure out why that might happen.” (T pp 669-70)

· In discussing Mr. Gomola’s statements, the State quoted an old Yiddish proverb holding that “a half truth is a whole lie.” Objection Overruled (T pp 676-77)

· The State argued that the reasonable doubt standard was not a barrier to conviction because “[l]ast time I looked . . . they were stacked up like cord wood in the prisons.” (T p 680)

· “It’s sort of ironic now because Stephen Gomola is now the man on the edge. He is the man on the rail. He’s the man now in jeopardy, and he’s reaching out to you for mercy. Your role is not mercy. Your role is justice.” (T p 681)
· Immediately after the above, “This is where the mercy comes from in this case, folks. And there’s mercy available because there is no mandatory prison time for this case. There is none. So mercy is available, but your role is justice.” (T p 681)
· The State repeatedly made references throughout not to “the defense” or “the defendant” but to defense counsel by name. (T pp 661, 663, 666, 667, 668, 670, 675)

(App pp 4-25)
The trial court then charged the jury on involuntary manslaughter. As to the “non-felonious unlawful act” element of the offense, it instructed the jury that “[t]he defendant’s act was unlawful if the defendant engaged in an affray with the victim. An affray is a fight between two or more persons in a public place so as to cause terror to the people.” The trial court also instructed on culpable negligence and accident, although it explained that accident only applies if the conduct resulting in the death “occurs during the course of lawful conduct, and does not involve culpable negligence.” (R pp 84-86) 
During deliberations, the jury asked for and was permitted to view several pieces of evidence, including witnesses’ and Mr. Gomola’s written statements. The jury also asked to review the surveillance footage of the incident and the transcript of Mr. Gomola’s interview, requests the trial court denied in its discretion. (R p 89; T pp 695-98) The jury convicted Mr. Gomola. The trial court sentenced him as a Prior Record Level I with no prior convictions to 16-29 months imprisonment and a $10,000 fine. (R pp 90-94)
STANDARD OF REVIEW
For Issue I, “the trial court’s decisions regarding jury instructions are reviewed de novo by this Court.” State v. Osorio, 196 N.C. App. 458, 466, 675 S.E.2d 144, 149 (2009) TA \l "State v. Osorio, 196 N.C. App. 458, 466, 675 S.E.2d 144, 149 (2009)" \s "State v. Osorio, 196 N.C. App. 458, 466, 675 S.E.2d 144, 149 (2009)" \c 1 . Under de novo review this Court “considers the matter anew and freely substitutes its own judgment” for that of the trial court. State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632–33, 669 S.E.2d 290, 294 (2008) TA \l "State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632–33, 669 S.E.2d 290, 294 (2008)" \s "State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632–33, 669 S.E.2d 290, 294 (2008)" \c 1 . 

For Issue II, this Court reviews overruled objections to closing arguments for an abuse of discretion. State v. Walters, 357 N.C. 68, 101, 588 S.E.2d 344, 364 (2003) TA \l "State v. Walters, 357 N.C. 68, 101, 588 S.E.2d 344, 364 (2003)" \s "State v. Walters, 357 N.C. 68, 101, 588 S.E.2d 344, 364 (2003)" \c 1 . “Application of the abuse of discretion standard to closing argument requires this Court to first determine if the remarks were improper. Next, [the Court] determine[s] if the remarks were of such a magnitude that their inclusion prejudiced [the] defendant, and thus should have been excluded by the trial court.” Id. (citation omitted). “The standard of review for assessing alleged improper closing arguments that fail to provoke timely objection from opposing counsel is whether the remarks were so grossly improper that the trial court committed reversible error by failing to intervene ex mero motu.” State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 133, 558 S.E.2d 97, 107 (2002) TA \l "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 133, 558 S.E.2d 97, 107 (2002)" \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 133, 558 S.E.2d 97, 107 (2002)" \c 1  (citation omitted).
ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury that Mr. Gomola’s lawful defense of another could negate the “non-felonious unlawful act” element of involuntary manslaughter. 
The incident resulting in Mr. Johnson’s death was over in eight seconds. What happened during those eight seconds was not captured on video, and witness accounts of the incident varied. One thing, however, was clear from the evidence: An aggressive and severely intoxicated Mr. Johnson assaulted Jimmy Johner without provocation. Mr. Gomola, standing inches behind Jimmy, instantaneously came to his friend’s defense.
Under these facts, Mr. Gomola was entitled to his requested instruction on defense of others. This instruction would have provided the jury the opportunity to find that any intentional use of non-deadly force on the part of Mr. Gomola was lawful. Had the jury been instructed as Mr. Gomola requested, there is a reasonable possibility it would have found he acted reasonably in defense of Jimmy. In that event, the jury would have acquitted Mr. Gomola of involuntary manslaughter, because there would have been no “unlawful” act on which to premise a conviction for that offense. The trial court’s refusal to instruct on an available and factually-supported defense to an element of involuntary manslaughter was prejudicial error requiring a new trial.  
A. The lawful defense of another negates an element of involuntary manslaughter. 

The elements of involuntary manslaughter are: “(1) an unintentional killing; (2) proximately caused by either (a) an unlawful act not amounting to a felony and not ordinarily dangerous to human life, or (b) culpable negligence.” State v. Hudson, 345 N.C. 729, 733, 483 S.E.2d 436, 439 (1997) TA \l "State v. Hudson, 345 N.C. 729, 733, 483 S.E.2d 436, 439 (1997)" \s "State v. Hudson, 345 N.C. 729, 733, 483 S.E.2d 436, 439 (1997)" \c 1 . Thus, when an involuntary manslaughter charge is based on a theory that the defendant committed an unlawful act unintentionally resulting in the decedent’s death, a defendant may rely on defense of others as a defense to the underlying “unlawful act.” Put differently, the valid defense of another renders lawful an otherwise unlawful act, thereby negating an essential element of the offense. Negation of the “unlawful act” element in this way is indistinguishable from the law of defensive force applicable in felony murder cases. See  TA \l "State v. Richardson, 341 N.C. 658, 668, 462 S.E.2d 492, 499 (1995)" \s "State v. Richardson, 341 N.C. 658, 668, 462 S.E.2d 492, 499 (1995)" \c 1 State v. Richardson, 341 N.C. 658, 668, 462 S.E.2d 492, 499 (1995) (Self-defense is not a defense to felony murder, rather, “self-defense is available in felony murder cases only to the extent that self-defense relates to applicable underlying felonies.”) TA \s "State v. Richardson, 341 N.C. 658, 668, 462 S.E.2d 492, 499 (1995)" .

Although some murder cases state that self-defense is not a defense to involuntary manslaughter, this proposition is too broad. John Rubin, The Law of Self Defense in North Carolina § 6.2, 152 (U.N.C. Inst. of Gov’t 1996) TA \l "John Rubin, The Law of Self Defense in North Carolina § 6.2, 152 (U.N.C. Inst. of Gov’t 1996)" \s "John Rubin, The Law of Self Defense in North Carolina § 6.2, 152 (U.N.C. Inst. of Gov’t 1996)" \c 3  (citing State v. Daniels, 87 N.C. App. 287, 290, 360 S.E.2d 470, 471 (1987) TA \l "State v. Daniels, 87 N.C. App. 287, 290, 360 S.E.2d 470, 471 (1987)" \s "State v. Daniels, 87 N.C. App. 287, 290, 360 S.E.2d 470, 471 (1987)" \c 1  as an example of a case stating the proposition too broadly). Those cases involve the intentional use of deadly force and the potential incompatibility thereof with involuntary manslaughter’s requirement that the killing be unintentional. However, it remains the case that “if a person uses nondeadly force against an assailant, and in the process inadvertently kills the assailant, the person may still be entitled to claim self-defense.” Id. (citing State v. Richardson, 341 N.C. 585, 461 S.E.2d 724 (1995) TA \l "State v. Richardson, 341 N.C. 585, 290, 461 S.E.2d 724 (1995)" \s "State v. Richardson, 341 N.C. 585, 290, 461 S.E.2d 724 (1995)" \c 1 ). Thus, as in the felony murder context, a valid use of defensive force may render lawful the otherwise unlawful act underlying the theory of criminal liability. See Richardson, 341 N.C. at 668, 462 S.E.2d at 499.  
B. A person may use non-deadly force to defend another when the person reasonably believes it necessary to thwart an imminent attack. 

As a general proposition, principles of defense of others track those applicable to self-defense. Rubin, supra at § 5.2(a)(1), 121. “A person is justified in using force, except deadly force, against another when and to the extent that the person reasonably believes that the conduct is necessary to defend himself or herself or another against the other’s imminent use of unlawful force.” N.C.G.S. § 14-51.3 TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 14-51.3" \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-51.3" \c 2 . Non-deadly force is force “neither intended nor likely” to kill another. State v. Pearson, 288 N.C. 34, 39, 215 S.E.2d 598, 602 (1975) TA \l "State v. Pearson, 288 N.C. 34, 39, 215 S.E.2d 598, 602 (1975)" \s "State v. Pearson, 288 N.C. 34, 39, 215 S.E.2d 598, 602 (1975)" \c 1 . One is entitled to defend another to the same extent that person would be entitled to defend himself, judged from the defender’s perspective. State v. Terry, 337 N.C. 615, 623, 447 S.E.2d 720, 724 (1994) TA \l "State v. Terry, 337 N.C. 615, 623, 447 S.E.2d 720, 724 (1994)" \s "State v. Terry, 337 N.C. 615, 623, 447 S.E.2d 720, 724 (1994)" \c 1 .
Here, even though the incident unfortunately resulted in Mr. Johnson’s death, Mr. Gomola deployed force “neither intended nor likely” to kill him under any view of the evidence. Pearson, 288 N.C. at 39, 215 S.E.2d at 602. Therefore, if Mr. Gomola possessed a reasonable belief that his conduct was necessary to defend Jimmy against Mr. Johnson’s imminent use of unlawful force, his conduct was lawful. N.C.G.S. § 14-51.3 TA \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-51.3" .     

C. There was evidence from which the jury could find that Mr. Gomola had a reasonable belief that Jimmy was subject to imminent attack. Therefore, the trial court erroneously refused to give Mr. Gomola’s requested instruction on defense of others. 

The State’s objection to the proposed instruction did not rest on the legal availability of defense of others. Rather, the State argued, and the trial court agreed, that Mr. Gomola failed to meet his initial burden of production. The trial court refused to instruct on defense of others on the ground that it had “not heard evidence that indicate[d] . . . what the defendant’s reasonable belief was at the time of the incident.” (T pp 632-33) This was simply untrue. There was ample evidence from which one could conclude that Mr. Gomola reasonably believed his intervention was necessary to defend Jimmy from Mr. Johnson. Accordingly, the trial court erred by refusing to give Mr. Gomola’s requested instruction on defense of others. 
Any defense raised by the evidence is a substantial feature of the case and requires an instruction. State v. Hudgins, 167 N.C. App. 705, 708, 606 S.E.2d 443, 446 (2004) TA \l "State v. Hudgins, 167 N.C. App. 705, 708, 606 S.E.2d 443, 446 (2004)" \s "State v. Hudgins, 167 N.C. App. 705, 708, 606 S.E.2d 443, 446 (2004)" \c 1 . Failure to instruct on all substantive features of a case is error. State v. Ward, 300 N.C. 150, 155, 266 S.E.2d 581, 585 (1980) TA \l "State v. Ward, 300 N.C. 150, 155, 266 S.E.2d 581, 585 (1980)" \s "State v. Ward, 300 N.C. 150, 155, 266 S.E.2d 581, 585 (1980)" \c 1 . “When determining whether the evidence is sufficient to entitle a defendant to jury instructions on a defense . . . courts must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant.” State v. Mash, 323 N.C. 339, 348, 372 S.E.2d 532, 537 (1988) TA \l "State v. Mash, 323 N.C. 339, 348, 372 S.E.2d 532, 537 (1988)" \s "State v. Mash, 323 N.C. 339, 348, 372 S.E.2d 532, 537 (1988)" \c 1  (citations omitted). This means that a defense of others instruction must be submitted to the jury “when there is evidence from which it may be inferred that a defendant acted [lawfully].” State v. Hope, 223 N.C. App. 468, 472–73, 737 S.E.2d 108, 111 (2012) TA \l "State v. Hope, ​​​___ N.C. App. ___, 737 S.E.2d 108, 111 (2012)" \s "State v. Hope, ___ N.C. App. ___, 737 S.E.2d 108, 111 (2012)" \c 1  (self-defense case) (quotation and citation omitted). 
Here, the following evidence, in the light most favorable to Mr. Gomola, supported an instruction on defense of others. After Harrington threw a bottle into the water, Jimmy politely asked him not to do so. Harrington approached Jimmy, feigning an apology and a handshake. Harrington then threw up his hands and began to laugh. Harrington, who was visibly drunk, got “very aggressive,” took off his shirt, and began to beat his chest and flex his muscles “as if to get into a fist fight.” At the same time, Mr. Johnson, in possession of a blood alcohol concentration nearly four times the legal driving limit, also approached Jimmy. Mr. Johnson was similarly “acting aggressive” and “cussing,” telling Jimmy that he had “messed up now,” getting in his face, and goading Jimmy to hit Harrington, saying “bitch ass, you ain’t going to hit him.” Jimmy called out to a friend to get a bouncer and Mr. Gomola recalled saying “whoa, whoa, just chill out.” Jimmy was unable to defend himself, as he was holding a drink in each hand. (T pp 135, 469, 520-23; State’s Ex. 55, page 11; State’s Ex. 56, Timestamp 3:33:20-:34:53) The circumstances were such that Jimmy felt threatened by Mr. Johnson. (T p 544) Mr. Johnson then said “too late motherfucker” and shoved Jimmy backwards into Mr. Gomola, who was standing inches behind him. In that instant, Mr. Gomola came to the defense of his friend, punching Mr. Johnson and causing his fall into the water. (T pp 522-24) In short, there were sufficient facts from which a jury could find that Mr. Gomola had a reasonable belief Jimmy was subject to an imminent attack from Mr. Johnson. 
In arguing against the instruction, the State contended that “if [defense counsel is] going to say what Mr. Gomola believed without Mr. Gomola taking the stand and saying he believed it, that’s not proper[.]” (T pp 632-33) To the extent the State was arguing that Mr. Gomola testifying about his subjective belief was a necessary pre-condition for obtaining the instruction, that argument was misplaced. First, the relevant inquiry concerns whether Mr. Gomola’s intervention was justified by an objectively reasonable belief that it was necessary to defend Jimmy. N.C.G.S. § 14-51.3 TA \s "N.C.G.S. § 14-51.3" ; Terry, 337 N.C. at 623, 447 S.E.2d at 724. Second, “one’s state of mind is rarely shown by direct evidence and must often be inferred from the circumstances.” N.C. State Bar v. Sutton, 791 S.E.2d 881, 901 (N.C. App. 2016) TA \l "N.C. State Bar v. Sutton, 791 S.E.2d 881, 901 (N.C. App. 2016)" \s "N.C. State Bar v. Sutton, 791 S.E.2d 881, 901 (N.C. App. 2016)" \c 1 . There was ample evidence, in the form of testimony and Mr. Gomola’s own statements, to support a finding that he reasonably believed his friend was at risk of an imminent attack from Mr. Johnson, including Mr. Gomola’s statement that he believed Mr. Johnson was “trying to fight us.” (State’s Ex. 55, p 14) Although evidence regarding Mr. Gomola’s subjective belief would have been potentially relevant to the question of reasonableness, his testimony was not necessary in order to obtain the requested instruction under these facts. 
“It is a matter for the jury to determine from the evidence under proper instructions if a defendant has such a well grounded belief that it will justify intervention in the defense of another.” State v. Graves, 18 N.C. App. 177, 181, 196 S.E.2d 582, 584–85 (1973) TA \l "State v. Graves, 18 N.C. App. 177, 181, 196 S.E.2d 582, 584–85 (1973)" \s "State v. Graves, 18 N.C. App. 177, 181, 196 S.E.2d 582, 584–85 (1973)" \c 1 . Here, the jury was erroneously denied that opportunity by the trial court.
D. There is a reasonable possibility that the jury would have acquitted if allowed to consider whether Mr. Gomola’s conduct was lawful. 

Because Mr. Gomola requested the instruction at issue in writing and noted his objection to the trial court’s decision, he need only demonstrate that there was a reasonable possibility of a different result had the instruction on defense of others been given. N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a)" \c 2 . The record manifests just such a reasonable possibility. This was a close case. Accounts of the events of the fight varied. The first trial ended with a deadlocked jury. The State was keen to make full use of the absence of a defensive force instruction during its closing argument. (T p 677) (“One thing you’re not going to hear in this case . . . [is] anything about self-defense as an actual defense in this case, because it doesn’t apply in this case. You’re not going to be instructed on it. It’s not a defense. So all this stuff about the pushing and shoving is irrelevant. It makes no difference. There is no right of self defense in this case as a matter of law. So it has no part in this case.”)
Moreover, in addition to wrongfully denying Mr. Gomola a defense to an element of the offense, the failure of the trial court to properly instruct on defense of others also rendered useless the instruction it gave to the jury about accident. Where “the perpetrator acted without wrongful purpose in the course of lawful conduct and without culpable negligence, a resultant injury will be excused as accidental.” State v. Thompson, 118 N.C. App. 33, 36, 454 S.E.2d 271, 273 (1995), disc. rev. denied, 340 N.C. 262, 456 S.E.2d 837 (1995) TA \l "State v. Thompson, 118 N.C. App. 33, 36, 454 S.E.2d 271, 273 (1995), disc. rev. denied, 340 N.C. 262, 456 S.E.2d 837 (1995)" \s "State v. Thompson, 118 N.C. App. 33, 36, 454 S.E.2d 271, 273 (1995), disc. rev. denied, 340 N.C. 262, 456 S.E.2d 837 (1995)" \c 1  (emphasis added). Accordingly, the jury could not find Mr. Johnson’s death accidental without being instructed on the potential lawfulness of Mr. Gomola’s conduct. Thus, the trial court’s error denied Mr. Gomola not only the benefit of defense of others to negate an element of the offense, but also a necessary fact for the only defense that was actually available to the jury.
The State may argue that any error in this case is harmless because the jury could have convicted Mr. Gomola under the “culpable negligence” prong of involuntary manslaughter. That argument would be unavailing. Although the trial court instructed on both theories of involuntary manslaughter, all of the State’s evidence suggested an intentional act on the part of Mr. Gomola resulted in Mr. Johnson’s unintentional death. Accordingly, there was simply no evidence of culpable negligence. See State v. Huggins, 71 N.C. App. 63, 68–69, 321 S.E.2d 584, 588–89 (1984) TA \l "State v. Huggins, 71 N.C. App. 63, 68–69, 321 S.E.2d 584, 588–89 (1984)" \s "State v. Huggins, 71 N.C. App. 63, 68–69, 321 S.E.2d 584, 588–89 (1984)" \c 1  (where evidence showed defendant intentionally struck decedent with his fist, the trial court’s refusal to instruct on the culpable negligence prong of involuntary manslaughter not erroneous because “[s]uch an intentional criminal act raised no issues of criminal negligence” ).    
Indeed, had Mr. Gomola’s counsel objected to an instruction on culpable negligence, the trial court’s decision to instruct on a theory unsupported by the evidence would have constituted reversible error on appeal, even without a specific showing of prejudice. See State v. Malachi, 2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 266, *8-9 (25 Jan. 2017), temp. stay granted, 2017 N.C. LEXIS 277 (4 May 2017) TA \l "State v. Malachi, 2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 266, *8-9 (25 Jan. 2017), temp. stay granted, 2017 N.C. LEXIS 277 (4 May 2017)" \s "State v. Malachi, 2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 266, *8-9 (25 Jan. 2017), temp. stay granted, 2017 N.C. LEXIS 277 (4 May 2017)" \c 1 . However, defense counsel did not object. Therefore, Mr. Gomola would be limited to plain error review in this Court. Id. Frankly, it is improbable the jury convicted Mr. Gomola on the factually-unsupported theory in this case. Accordingly, he does not raise the issue here. Nevertheless, the absence of any evidence of culpable negligence illustrates the prejudice resulting from the trial court’s error.   
E. Conclusion 

The evidence, taken in the light most favorable to Mr. Gomola, was sufficient to find he possessed a reasonable belief that his use of non-deadly force was necessary to defend Jimmy from an imminent assault by Mr. Johnson. Accordingly, the trial court erred in refusing to give the requested instruction. Because there is a reasonable possibility that a properly-instructed jury would have found Mr. Gomola acted lawfully and acquitted him, this Court should grant him a new trial. 
II. The State’s improper closing argument warrants a new trial. 
Jury arguments of trial counsel are left largely to the control and discretion of the trial court, and counsel will be granted wide latitude in the argument of hotly contested cases. State v. Robinson, 346 N.C. 586, 606, 488 S.E.2d 174, 187 (1997) TA \l "State v. Robinson, 346 N.C. 586, 60, 488 S.E.2d 174, 187 (1997)" \s "State v. Robinson, 346 N.C. 586, 60, 488 S.E.2d 174, 187 (1997)" \c 1 . Nevertheless, “the liberty of argument must not degenerate into license.” State v. Miller, 271 N.C. 646, 659, 157 S.E.2d 335, 345 (1967) TA \l "State v. Miller, 271 N.C. 646, 659, 157 S.E.2d 335, 345 (1967)" \s "State v. Miller, 271 N.C. 646, 659, 157 S.E.2d 335, 345 (1967)" \c 1 . This is particularly true for prosecutors, whose “duty . . . as much as it is of the trial judge, [is] to uphold the defendant’s right to a fair hearing.” State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 10, 442 S.E.2d 33, 39 (1994) TA \l "State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 10, 442 S.E.2d 33, 39 (1994)" \s "State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 10, 442 S.E.2d 33, 39 (1994)" \c 1 .  “While [the State] may strike hard blows, [it] is not at liberty to strike foul ones.” Id. (quoting Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 79 L. Ed. 2d 1314, 1321 (1935) TA \l "Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 79 L. Ed. 2d 1314, 1321 (1935)" \s "Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 79 L. Ed. 2d 1314, 1321 (1935)" \c 1 ). Here, unfortunately, the State crossed this line at several points during its closing. 

A. The trial court abused its discretion in overruling Mr. Gomola’s objections to the portions of the State’s closing argument disparaging defense counsel and Mr. Gomola. 
In evaluating overruled objections to closing argument, this Court must “first determine if the remarks were improper. Next, [the Court] determine[s] if the remarks were of such a magnitude that their inclusion prejudiced [the] defendant, and thus should have been excluded by the trial court.” State v. Walters, 357 N.C. 68, 101, 588 S.E.2d 344, 364 (2003) TA \l "State v. Walters, 357 N.C. 68, 101, 588 S.E.2d 344, 364 (2003)" \s "State v. Walters, 357 N.C. 68, 101, 588 S.E.2d 344, 364 (2003)" \c 1 . In its argument the State made several improper and prejudicial comments which drew overruled objections. 

“[A] trial attorney may not make uncomplimentary comments about opposing counsel, and should refrain from abusive, vituperative, and opprobrious language, or from indulging in invectives.” Sanderson, 336 N.C. at 10, 442 S.E.2d at 39. Name-calling should be avoided. State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 133–35, 558 S.E.2d 97, 108 (2002) TA \l "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 133–35, 558 S.E.2d 97, 108 (2002)" \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 133–35, 558 S.E.2d 97, 108 (2002)" \c 1 ; see also N.C. R. Sup. & Dist. Cts. 12 TA \l "N.C. R. Sup. & Dist. Cts. 12" \s "N.C. R. Sup. & Dist. Cts. 12" \c 3  (“All personalities between counsel should be avoided.”). 
Here, the State, repeatedly referring to defense counsel by name throughout its argument, compared counsel to “rodeo clowns” in opining that they had prepared a “rodeo clown defense.” The State colorfully summarized its personal view of the defense argument through a reiteration of the word “drunk” seven times. The State went on to posit that counsel’s defense was the best they could do and yet it was, in the opinion of the State, “inadequate, redundant, and pathetic.” Such argument was not only personally insulting but also constituted an improper expression of the State’s personal belief as to the strength of the defense. See, e.g., State v. Matthews, 358 N.C. 102, 111–12, 591 S.E.2d 535, 542 (2004) TA \l "State v. Matthews, 358 N.C. 102, 111–12, 591 S.E.2d 535, 542 (2004)" \s "State v. Matthews, 358 N.C. 102, 111–12, 591 S.E.2d 535, 542 (2004)" \c 1  (improper to call defense “bullcrap”). The State also argued that Mr. Gomola told police “half truth[s]” amounting to “whole lie[s].” See State v. Gell, 351 N.C. 192, 211, 524 S.E.2d 332, 344–45 (2000) TA \l "State v. Gell, 351 N.C. 192, 211, 524 S.E.2d 332, 344–45 (2000)" \s "State v. Gell, 351 N.C. 192, 211, 524 S.E.2d 332, 344–45 (2000)" \c 1  (counsel may argue testimony should not be believed, but improper to call witness a “liar”). This combination of insult and personal opinion was beneath the “dignity and propriety” expected of counsel, N.C. R. Sup. & Dist. Cts. 12 TA \s "N.C. R. Sup. & Dist. Cts. 12" , and Mr. Gomola’s objections should have been sustained.  
B. The trial court failed to intervene ex mero motu to address portions of the State’s argument minimizing the jury’s role and analogizing Mr. Gomola’s situation to that of the deceased.
Even in the absence of an objection, the trial court should intervene ex mero motu when closing arguments are grossly improper. Jones, 355 N.C. at 133, 558 S.E.2d at 107. The trial court should have intervened at points during the State’s argument in this case.

Our Supreme Court has cautioned that “even a well-intentioned argument purporting to forecast a sentence under Structured Sentencing will almost invariably be misleading” and should be avoided. State v. Lopez, 363 N.C. 535, 540–42, 681 S.E.2d 271, 275 (2009) TA \l "State v. Lopez, 363 N.C. 535, 540–42, 681 S.E.2d 271, 275 (2009)" \s "State v. Lopez, 363 N.C. 535, 540–42, 681 S.E.2d 271, 275 (2009)" \c 1 . Here, the State told the jury that “mercy [was] available because there is no mandatory prison time for this case. There is none.” While technically correct (the trial court could have imposed intermediate or active punishment), the State’s argument plainly suggested to the jury that it was unlikely Mr. Gomola would suffer prison time as consequence of any conviction, thus minimizing the gravity of the jury’s decision. Similarly, the State suggested to the jury that reasonable doubt was no barrier to conviction because “[l]ast time I looked . . . they were stacked up like cord wood in the prisons.” Our Supreme Court has cautioned against arguments, like the above, which speculate about sentencing outcomes and minimize the seriousness of the jury’s task. See, e.g., State v. Wilson, 293 N.C. 47, 57, 235 S.E.2d 219, 225 (1977) TA \l "State v. Wilson, 293 N.C. 47, 57, 235 S.E.2d 219, 225 (1977)" \s "State v. Wilson, 293 N.C. 47, 57, 235 S.E.2d 219, 225 (1977)" \c 1  (“[C]ounsel was asking the jury to consider the punishment as part of its substantive deliberations and this he may not do.”).

Moreover, it is also improper for the prosecutor to ask the jurors to put themselves in the victim’s place. State v. Roache, 358 N.C. 243, 298, 595 S.E.2d 381, 417 (2004) TA \l "State v. Roache, 358 N.C. 243, 298, 595 S.E.2d 381, 417 (2004)" \s "State v. Roache, 358 N.C. 243, 298, 595 S.E.2d 381, 417 (2004)" \c 1 . Here, the State engaged in a variant of this type of argument, placing Mr. Gomola in the shoes of Mr. Johnson and the jury in the role of Mr. Gomola, who was now “the man on the rail. He’s the man now in jeopardy, and he’s reaching out to you for mercy.” This argument was a blatant emotional appeal to the jury. See Jones, 355 N.C. at 135, 558 S.E.2d at 108 (Argument must be “premised on logical deductions, not on appeals to passion or prejudice[.]”). The trial court should have intervened and addressed the above arguments.  
C. The portions of the State’s argument claiming that defense counsel and Mr. Gomola intimidated a witness, without any evidence whatsoever, irreparably prejudiced the jury even in the face of sustained objections.
A lawyer may not make factually-unsupported arguments. State v. Caldwell, 68 N.C. App. 488, 489, 315 S.E.2d 362, 363 (1984) TA \l "State v. Caldwell, 68 N.C. App. 488, 489, 315 S.E.2d 362, 363 (1984)" \s "State v. Caldwell, 68 N.C. App. 488, 489, 315 S.E.2d 362, 363 (1984)" \c 1  (improper to make assertions about why a witness did not testify when explanation was not supported by the evidence); see also N.C. R. Prof’l Conduct Rule 3.4(e) TA \l "N.C. R. Prof’l Conduct Rule 3.4(e)" \s "N.C. R. Prof’l Conduct Rule 3.4(e)" \c 3  (lawyer may not “allude to any matter . . . that will not be supported by admissible evidence”); N.C.G.S. § 15A-1230(a) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1230(a)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1230(a)" \c 2 . It is also improper to make irrelevant arguments based on a defendant’s personal appearance. See, e.g., State v. Tucker, 190 N.C. 708, 708–15, 130 S.E. 720, 721–24 (1925) TA \l "State v. Tucker, 190 N.C. 708, 708–15, 130 S.E. 720, 721–24 (1925)" \s "State v. Tucker, 190 N.C. 708, 708–15, 130 S.E. 720, 721–24 (1925)" \c 1 . 

Although the State accused defense counsel of living in a “fantasy world,” it nevertheless alleged during its argument, apparently without any evidence either in or out of the record, that Mr. Gomola intimidated a witness to change her story. Indeed, the State suggested that Mr. Gomola’s appearance alone (“this big guy over here”) may have caused Spatz to “fear for her safety.” This was grossly improper, and the trial court was right to sustain Mr. Gomola’s objection and instruct the jury to disregard this portion of the argument. See State v. Williams, 317 N.C. 474, 481–82, 346 S.E.2d 405, 410 (1986) TA \l "State v. Williams, 317 N.C. 474, 481–82, 346 S.E.2d 405, 410 (1986)" \s "State v. Williams, 317 N.C. 474, 481–82, 346 S.E.2d 405, 410 (1986)" \c 1  (new trial awarded, even without defense objection at trial, when State argued individual’s killing was motivated by a desire to eliminate a potential witness when there was “absolutely no evidence whatsoever” supporting that assertion) (emphasis in original). 
Although jurors are generally presumed to follow limiting instructions, State v. Gregory, 340 N.C. 365, 408, 459 S.E.2d 638, 663 (1995) TA \l "State v. Gregory, 340 N.C. 365, 408, 459 S.E.2d 638, 663 (1995)" \s "State v. Gregory, 340 N.C. 365, 408, 459 S.E.2d 638, 663 (1995)" \c 1 , there are circumstances in which no limiting instruction can cure the prejudicial event. See generally State v. Canady, 355 N.C. 242, 249, 559 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2002) TA \l "State v. Canady, 355 N.C. 242, 249, 559 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2002)" \s "State v. Canady, 355 N.C. 242, 249, 559 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2002)" \c 1 ; State v. Frogge, 345 N.C. 614, 617, 481 S.E.2d 278, 279 (1997) TA \l "State v. Frogge, 345 N.C. 614, 617, 481 S.E.2d 278, 279 (1997)" \s "State v. Frogge, 345 N.C. 614, 617, 481 S.E.2d 278, 279 (1997)" \c 1 ; State v. Austin, 285 N.C. 364, 367, 204 S.E.2d 675, 677 (1974) TA \l "State v. Austin, 285 N.C. 364, 367, 204 S.E.2d 675, 677 (1974)" \s "State v. Austin, 285 N.C. 364, 367, 204 S.E.2d 675, 677 (1974)" \c 1 . Ultimately, the uncritical assumption that limiting instructions are foolproof is simply an “unmitigated fiction.” Krulewitch v. United States, 336 U.S. 440, 453, 93 L. Ed. 790, 799 (1949) TA \l "Krulewitch v. United States, 336 U.S. 440, 453, 93 L. Ed. 790, 799 (1949)" \s "Krulewitch v. United States, 336 U.S. 440, 453, 93 L. Ed. 790, 799 (1949)" \c 1  (Jackson, J., concurring).

Here, the jury heard the State accuse the defendant and his lawyers, without any evidence, of intimidating a witness to change her testimony. These baseless comments were grossly improper and could do nothing but unfairly prejudice Mr. Gomola. Berger, 295 U.S. at 88, 79 L. Ed. 2d at 1321 (assertions of the prosecuting attorney to the jury, even if wholly without factual support, “are apt to carry much weight against the accused”). The trial court’s single instruction to the jury to disregard one statement to this effect could not have cured the prejudice resulting from the State’s grossly improper argument. 
D. The cumulative effect of the State’s improper argument warrants a new trial. 

Even without a proper instruction on defense of others, see Issue I supra, this was a close case, as evidenced by the factual record and the first trial resulting in a deadlocked jury. Even if none of the State’s improper arguments individually rose to the level of reversible error, the State’s argument had the cumulative effect of denying Mr. Gomola a fair trial. Accordingly, this Court should grant Mr. Gomola a new trial. State v. Wilkerson, 363 N.C. 382, 426, 683 S.E.2d 174, 201 (2009) TA \l "State v. Wilkerson, 363 N.C. 382, 426, 683 S.E.2d 174, 201 (2009)" \s "State v. Wilkerson, 363 N.C. 382, 426, 683 S.E.2d 174, 201 (2009)" \c 1  (cumulative errors must lead to reversal “when taken as a whole they deprived [the] defendant of his due process right to a fair trial free from prejudicial error”).
Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Gomola asks this Court to grant him a new trial.  

Respectfully submitted, this the 28th day of June, 2017.
Electronically Submitted

James R. Grant

Assistant Appellate Defender

North Carolina State Bar #44410






james.r.grant@nccourts.org





Glenn Gerding

Appellate Defender

North Carolina State Bar #23124
Office of the Appellate Defender 

123 West Main Street, Suite 500

Durham, North Carolina 27701

919.354.7210
ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH N.C. R. App. P. 28(J)(2)

Undersigned counsel hereby certifies that this brief is in compliance with N.C. R. App. P. 28(j)(2) TA \l "N.C.R.App.P. 28(j)(2)" \c 3  in that it is printed in 13-point Century Schoolbook font and contains no more than 8,750 words in the body of the brief, footnotes and citations included, as indicated by the word-processing program used to prepare the brief. 

This the 28th day of June, 2017.





Electronically Submitted
James R. Grant

Assistant Appellate Defender
CERTIFICATE OF FILING AND SERVICE
I hereby certify that the original Brief has been duly filed, pursuant to Rule 26, by electronic means with the Clerk of the North Carolina Court of Appeals.

I further certify that a copy of the foregoing Brief has been served upon Mr. Joseph L. Hyde, Assistant Attorney General, North Carolina Department of Justice, by email to jhyde@ncdoj.gov.
This the 28th day of June, 2017.

Electronically Submitted





James R. Grant






Assistant Appellate Defender
No. COA17-438


           
    THREE-B JUDICIAL DISTRICT

NORTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

****************************************************

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

)

)
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)

From Carteret







)



STEPHEN PAUL GOMOLA


)
****************************************************

APPENDIX TO DEFENDANT-APPELLANT’S BRIEF

****************************************************

Relevant portion of defense’s proposed instructions
1
Transcript of State’s closing argument
4
� “R” refers to the record on appeal. “T” cites the consecutively-paginated trial transcript, while “MT” cites the consecutively-paginated mistrial transcript. “App” is the Appendix to this Brief. 


� Johner is identified by his first name throughout to avoid confusion between him and the similarly-named Mr. Johnson.


� A search warrant was issued for Jack’s surveillance video just two hours after the incident. Although police had not concluded interviewing witnesses, the warrant was captioned “State v. Stephen Paul Gomola.” (R p 2)


� State’s Exhibit 22 has been transmitted to this Court. Counsel encourages the Court to review this surveillance footage, specifically Camera 1. The relevant portion starts at timestamp 22:56:00.   


� Griggs, a Washington resident, testified at the first trial. However, a Washington judge ruled that her travel to North Carolina for a second trial would constitute an “undue hardship” and would not enforce a North Carolina subpoena. (R p 58) Consequently, at the second trial Griggs’ testimony from the first trial was read into the record. (T pp 329-34) 





� Counsel invites this Court to review the brief 17-page transcript of Mr. Gomola’s interview in its entirety. (State’s Ex. 55)


� “Assault in Lawful Defense of a Third Person (Defense to Assaults Not Involving Deadly Force).”


� The entire proposed instruction is included in the Appendix to this Brief. (App 1-3) 


� The trial court had also denied a request for the same instruction on defense of others at the first trial. (MT pp 530-37)





